**S229428**

Supreme Court Case No.:

  
SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

SEP 21 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

---

**COORDINATION PROCEEDING SPECIAL TITLE (RULE 3.550)**  
**FIRST STUDENT, INC. CASES**

---

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District  
Case No. B256075

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

RONALD A. PETERS, Bar No. 169895  
BENJAMIN A. EMMERT, Bar No.  
212157  
LITTLER MENDELSON  
A Professional Corporation  
50 W. San Fernando, 15th Floor  
San Jose, CA 95113.2303  
Telephone: 408.998.4150

Attorneys for Defendants and Appellees  
FIRST STUDENT, INC. and FIRST  
TRANSIT, INC.

---

## **II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the Second Appellant District correctly concluded that, contrary to the Fourth Appellant District's conclusion on the same issue, the California Legislature's 1998 amendment to the ICRAA, as applied in this action, provided adequate notice that it and not the CCRAA applied to the consumer reports regarding Ms. Connor.

## **III. HOW THE CASE PRESENTS A GROUND FOR REVIEW**

California Rule of Court 8.500(a) states, in pertinent part, "[a] party may file a petition in the Supreme Court for review of any decision of the Court of

Appeal.” The California Supreme Court may also grant review of a Court of Appeal decision “[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law.” Cal. Rule of Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

Review is appropriate in this action to secure uniformity between California’s Appellate Courts on an important question of law - whether California’s ICRAA is unconstitutionally vague as applied to consumer reports obtained by employers on applicants, prospective employees, and employees used for the purpose of evaluating an individual for employment, promotion, reassignment, or retention as an employee when the same reports are also simultaneously subject to the CCRAA .

As a result of the Second Appellate District published decision in this action, that the ICRAA is not unconstitutionally vague and does not unconstitutionally overlap with the CCRAA, there exists an actual conflict between Second Appellate District and the Fourth Appellate District on this important matter. Specifically, in *Ortiz v. Lyon Management Group, Inc.* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 604 and *Trujillo v. First American Registry, Inc.* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 628, the Fourth Appellate District held “[t]he 1998 amendment rendered the ICRAA unconstitutional” to the extent it covers consumer reports that are concurrently subject to the CCRAA. *Ortiz*, 157 Cal.App.4th at 619; *Trujillo*, 157 Cal.App.4th at 640. Federal Courts that have considered this same issue have all followed *Ortiz* and *Trujillo*. See *Roe v. LexisNexis Risk Solutions, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. 2013) 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88936,\*14-18; *Moran v. The Screening Pros.* (C.D. Cal. 2012) 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158598,\*15-22.

In this action, the Second Appellate District disagreed with the Fourth Appellate District’s reasoning and held the ICRAA is not unconstitutionally vague notwithstanding the fact it does not provide notice that a party requesting a consumer report that is covered by, and in compliance with the CCRAA’s requirements, can be subject to the ICRAA’s \$10,000 penalty if

he/she/it fails to also comply with the ICRAA's separate and distinct more stringent requirements. *Connor*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 530.

#### **IV. THIS PETITION FOR REVIEW IS PROPER AND TIMELY**

On August 12, 2015, the Appellate Court filed its opinion granting Ms. Connor's appeal and reversing the trial court's order granting First's motion for summary judgment. The Appellate Court's opinion became final on September 11, 2015. Cal. R. Ct. 8.264(b)(1). The deadline for any party to petition this Court for review is September 21, 2015. Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(e)(1). First's Petition is filed on or before September 21, 2015, and is therefore timely.

#### **V. BACKGROUND CONTEXT NECESSARY TO EXPLAIN HOW CASE PRESENTS A GROUND FOR REVIEW**

##### **A. Introduction**

Ms. Connor is one of approximately 1400 individuals who filed this mass action against Defendant First. Ms. Connor, and each one of the other similarly situated plaintiffs, allege First violated California's ICRAA when it procured or caused to be prepared a consumer report on her without obtaining her express written consent as required by California's ICRAA. Ms. Connor, as well as each of the other plaintiffs in this action, seek recovery of the ICRAA's \$10,000 penalty for each alleged violation of the ICRAA.

##### **B. The Parties**

###### **1. First Student, Inc./First Transit, Inc.**

First is a subsidiary of FirstGroup America, which is a subsidiary of FirstGroup PLC. First is a leader in providing safe, reliable, and cost-effective transportation services to school districts throughout the United States and Canada. (JA, Vol. I, p. 37.) First provides its services through a fleet of over 54,000 buses that serve approximately 6 million student riders each day. Because First provides transportation services for our most precious cargo, our children, it places a profound emphasis on making sure its services are conducted as safely as

humanly possible. It does this by, *inter alia*, conducting background checks on all of its drivers and others who have contact with its riders to ensure they are properly qualified to safely perform their job duties.

**2. HireRight Solutions, Inc.**

HireRight Solutions is a consumer reporting agency. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 37-38.) Ms. Connor claims HireRight Solutions is consumer reporting agency that prepared the subject background checks on her. (*Id.*)

**3. Eileen Connor.**

Plaintiff Eileen Connor is a former First employee on who First requested HireRight Solutions prepare the subject background reports. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 162-163.)

**C. FirstGroup PLC, Acquires Laidlaw International, Inc.**

In October 2007, FirstGroup PLC acquired Laidlaw Transit (another transportation company) through a stock purchase agreement. (JA, Vol. I, p. 37.) As a result, certain employees who had been employed by Laidlaw became employees of First. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 37-38.) To confirm these Laidlaw employees were properly qualified to work in positions in which they would have contact with First's student passengers, First ordered background reports on these individuals from HireRight Solutions. (*Id.*)

**D. First Requests HireRight Solutions Perform Background Checks On Certain Former Laidlaw Employees Including Appellant.**

Beginning in late October 2007, and in conjunction with its efforts to transition the former Laidlaw employees to First and confirm they were properly qualified to work with children, First sent each Laidlaw employee a package of documents called a "Safety Pack." (JA, Vol. I, p. 166.) As pertinent to this action, the Safety Pack included a written notice/disclosure/authorization ("Notice") allowing First to procure or cause to be prepared a consumer report(s)

and/or an “investigative consumer report(s)” on the individual. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 37.) The Notice stated, in pertinent part:

In connection with your employment or application for employment (including contract for services), an investigative consumer report and consumer reports, which may contain public record information, may be requested from USIS [HireRight Solutions]. . . . These reports may include the following types of information: names and dates of previous employers, reason for termination of employment, work experience, accident, academic history, professional credentials, drugs/alcohol use, information relating to your character, general reputation, educational background, or any other information about you which may reflect upon your potential for employment gathered from any individual, organization, entity, agency, or other source which may have knowledge concerning any such items of information. Such reports may contain public record information concerning your driving record, workers’ compensation claims, criminal records, etc., from federal, state and other agencies which maintain such records; as well as information from USIS [i.e. HireRight Solutions] concerning previous driving records requests made by others from such state agencies.

(JA, Vol. V, pp. 1072-1073.)

**E. Ms. Connor’s Employment With Laidlaw/First.**

Ms. Connor started working for Laidlaw in about 2000 as a school bus driver’s aide. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 185-186, 187-189.) After First acquired Laidlaw in October 2007, it sent her the Safety Pack, which included the Notice. (*Id.* at p. 166.) After it did, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare a background report on her. This report was prepared by using electronic databases and was based on publically available information and did not contain any information obtained from personal interviews. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 198-206; JA, Vol. II, pp. 951-952.)

Ms. Connor worked as a school bus driver for First until March 2009. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 189-190.) By March 2009, she had been involved in a number of traffic accidents and First contemplated terminating her employment. (*Id.*) Rather than fire her, First allowed Ms. Connor to return to work as a driver's aide. (*Id.*) In connection with returning to work in this position, Ms. Connor was required to fill out an employment application and execute a new Notice. (*Id.*) She filled out these documents on March 16, 2009 (the employment application) and March 18, 2009 (the Notice). (JA, Vol. I, pp. 208-213.)

On March 18, 2009, and in connection with Ms. Connor returning to work as a driver's aide, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare a new background report on her. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 215-228.) As with her initial background report, this report was prepared by using electronic databases and was based on publically available information and contained no information from personal interviews or from non-public sources. (JA, Vol. IV, pp. 951-952.)

First requested HireRight Solutions perform a new background check on Ms. Connor First requested HireRight Solutions perform a new background check on her on June 1, 2010. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 232-244.) While not required, Ms. Connor signed another Notice in conjunction with this background report. (JA, Vol. I, p. 230.) Again, as with Ms. Connor's prior background reports, this report was prepared by using electronic databases and did not contain any information obtained from non-public sources. (JA, Vol. VI, pp. 951-952.) It is undisputed that she passed the background check and suffered no adverse employment action from First as a result of any information contained in the report. (JA, Vol. I, p. 162.)

**F. Statutory History Of The CCRAA And ICRAA Underlying The Parties Dispute.**

In 1970, California's Legislature enacted legislation regulating the consumer credit reporting industry, the Consumer Credit Reporting Act (former Civ. Code § 1785.1 et seq.) Stats. 1970, c. 1348, p. 2512, § 1, repealed by Stats.

1975, c. 1271, 0.3377, § 2. The Consumer Credit Reporting Act governed “credit rating reports” it defined to include a report regarding a consumer’s “credit record, credit standing, or capacity.”

Later the same year, Congress passed the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”) (15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.). The FCRA broadly defined the term “consumer report” to include information bearing on an individual’s “credit worthiness, credit standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(d). The FCRA also differentiated between consumer reports containing information obtained by “personal interviews” (defined by the FCRA as “investigative consumer reports”) and consumer reports that did not contain such personal interview information. (*Id.* at § 1681a(e)).

In 1975, California’s Legislature repealed the Consumer Credit Reporting Act and separately passed two new separate and distinct laws: the CCRAA and the ICRAA. Stats. 1975, c. 1271, p. 3369, § 1 (“CCRAA”); Stats 1975, c. 1272, p. 3378, § 1 (“ICRAA”). The structure of the CCRAA and the ICRAA varied considerably from the structure of the FCRA, and reflected the Legislature’s intent to establish two separate and independent statutes governing consumer reports regulating only those reports specifically falling within their specific spheres. (*Id.*)

Indeed, while the CCRAA and ICRAA both allowed the preparation and use of consumer reports falling under their respective jurisdictions for “employment purposes,” which they both defined as “for the purpose of evaluating a consumer for employment, promotion, reassignment, or retention as an employee,” they specifically differentiated between the types of consumer reports subject to their respective provisions by the manner in which the information in the report was obtained. Compare Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1785.3(c), (f), with Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1786.2(c), (f), Stats 1998, c. 988, § 1.

The CCRAA generally applied to all consumer reports, unless they were specifically covered by the ICRAA. Compare Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c) with Cal. Civ. Code § 1786.2(c), Stats 1998, c. 988, § 1. As enacted by Assembly Bill 600, the CCRAA defined a consumer report falling under its provisions, i.e. a “consumer credit report,” as one containing any “information bearing on a consumer’s credit worthiness, credit standing, or credit capacity.” Hist. and Statutory Notes, Civ. Code § 1785.3(c); see also Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c). Significantly, the CCRAA excluded from its coverage consumer reports that were covered by the ICRAA. It did so by excluding consumer reports:

Containing information solely on a consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living which is obtained through personal interviews with neighbors, friends, or associates of the consumer reported on, or others with whom he is acquainted or who may have knowledge concerning those items of information.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c).

The ICRAA on the other hand, as originally enacted, was much more limited in scope. It only applied to consumer reports it called “investigative consumer report[s],” which it defined as one “in which the information on a consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living is obtained through personal interviews.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1786.2(c), Stats 1998, c. 988, § 1.

As the foregoing shows, the ICRAA defined consumer reports falling under its jurisdiction as being those that were specifically excluded from the CCRAA. Compare Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c), with Cal. Civ. Code § 1786.2(c), Stats 1998, c. 988, § 1. In other words, when enacted, the CCRAA covered all consumer reports, including consumer reports containing information “on a consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living” so long as the information was not obtained through personal



interviews, while the ICRAA covered consumer reports containing information on a consumer's character obtained through such personal interviews. (*Id.*) This bright line distinction existed until the Legislature amended the ICRAA in 1998.

**G. The California Appellant Court Second District's Decision In *Cisneros v. U.D. Registry, Inc.* (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 548.**

In 1995, California's Court of Appeal, Second District, issued the decision in *Cisneros v. U.D. Registry, Inc.* (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 548. The *Cisneros* Court interpreted the ICRAA's "personal interview" requirement as meaning, and being limited to, situations where information in an investigative consumer report is obtained from direct communication between two or more persons – *i.e.* "in person interviews" - and did not apply to information gathered in other ways, such as from written surveys or reports. (*Id.* at 569).

The *Cisneros* plaintiffs alleged the defendant, a company that collected and sold information to landlords regarding potential renters, violated the ICRAA by sending forms to a potential renter's former landlord asking the landlords to report the manner in which a tenant's tenancy ended. (*Id.* at 567). The Court held the defendant's conduct did not violate the ICRAA because its reports were "not 'investigative consumer reports' because the information [in the report] is not obtained through 'personal interviews'" as the ICRAA requires. (*Id.* at 569). Rather, the information was obtained from the forms, which the prior landlord filled out based on their own personal observations - not on "personal interviews." (*Id.* at 567-569).

**H. California's Legislature's 1998 Amendments To The ICRAA.**

In 1998, California's Legislature amended the ICRAA by revising its definition of an "investigative consumer report." Stats. 1998, c. 998 (S.B. 1454), § 1. It also amended the penalty available for a proven violation. (*Id.*) The amendment changed the ICRAA's definition of an "investigative consumer report" as being one "whose information is "obtained through personal interviews" to being one whose information is "obtained through any means." See Hist. and

Statutory Notes, Civ. Code § 1786.2(c). The amended definition, which was in place at the time period relevant to this action and today, states:

The term “investigative consumer report” means a consumer report in which information on a consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living is obtained through any means.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1786.2(c).

Significantly, the Legislature made no corresponding amendments to the CCRAA. Indeed, the CCRAA today still applies to all consumer reports except those:

Containing information solely on a consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living, which is obtained through personal interviews . . . .

Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c)(5).

**I. Procedural Requirements To Request A Consumer Report Under The CCRAA And The ICRAA And Penalties For A Proven Violation.**

While the CCRAA and the ICRAA both authorize an employer to obtain a consumer report for “employment purposes,” the CCRAA and the ICRAA impose significantly different procedural requirements to do so and provide significantly different penalties for a proven violation.

During the time period relevant to this action, the CCRAA required the requesting party:

1. Inform “the person [in writing] that a report will be used”;
2. State “the source of the report”; and
3. Give the subject of the report a form “contain[ing] a box that the person may check off to receive a copy of the [ ] report.”

See Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.20.5(a), Historical and Statutory Notes, Stats.2011, c. 724.

The ICRAA however, requires the requesting party:

1. Provide the subject of the report a written disclosure:
  - a. Stating an investigative consumer report may be obtained;
  - b. Identifying the permissible purpose of the report;
  - c. Stating the report may include information on the consumer's character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and mode of living;
  - d. Identifying the name, address, and telephone number of the investigative consumer reporting agency preparing the report; and
  - e. Notifying the consumer in writing of the nature and scope of the investigation requested, including a summary of the provisions of California Civil Code section 1786.22; and
2. The Consumer authorizes the preparation and procurement of the report in writing.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1786.16(a).

The CCRAA and the ICRAA also provide significantly different penalties for a proven violation of their provisions. The CCRAA authorizes an aggrieved party to recover:

- In the case of a negligent violation, actual damages, including court costs, loss of wages, attorneys' fees and, when applicable, pain and suffering; or
- In the case of a willful violation, actual damages incurred as set forth above and punitive damages of not less than one hundred dollars (\$100) nor more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) for each violation as the court deems proper.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.31.

The ICRAA states an aggrieved party may recover:

- Any actual damages sustained by the consumer or ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), whichever sum is greater, plus their attorneys' fees and court costs; as well as punitive damages if the defendant's conduct is established to be grossly negligent or willful.

Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1786.50(a), (b).

It is against this backdrop that Appellant's action against First is brought.

**J. Ms. Connor's Lawsuit.**

As states above, Ms. Connor is one of appropriately 1400 plaintiffs in this mass action. At the time First filed its motion for summary judgment, Ms. Connor's operative complaint was the Consolidated Fourth Amended Complaint ("CFAC"). The CFAC asserted four causes of action against First for alleged violations of the ICRAA (the First, Second, Sixth, and Seventh Causes of Action). (JA, Vol. I, pp. 34-90.) Each of these causes of action was premised on the same allegations, that First procured or caused to be prepared "investigative consumer reports," as defined in the ICRAA, on her without providing her the requisite disclosures and/or obtaining her written consent. (*Id.* at pp. 36-39.) The only distinction between the causes of action is that the First and Sixth Causes of Action allege Appellant suffered some unidentified emotional distress damages and the Second and Seventh Causes of Action do not. (*Id.* at pp. 41-53.)

**K. First's Motion For Summary Judgment**

On August 5, 2013, First filed its motion for summary judgment as to Ms. Connor's ICRAA claims. First's motion argued that California's ICRAA was unconstitutionally vague as applied to Ms. Connor's subject consumer reports because its 1998 amendment caused it to unconstitutionally overlap with the separate and distinct statute, the CCRAA pursuant to *Ortiz v. Lyon Management Group, Inc.* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 604 and *Trujillo v. First American Registry,*

*Inc.* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 628 and the federal courts that have considered this issue. See *Roe v. LexisNexis Risk Solutions, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. 2013) 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88936,\*14-18; *Moran v. The Screening Pros.* (C.D. Cal. 2012) 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158598,\*15-22.

On December 18, 2013, the trial court granted First's motion finding:

Pursuant to the holdings in *Ortiz v. Lyon Management Group, Inc.* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 604 and *Trujillo v. First American Registry, Inc.* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 628, the ICRAA is unconstitutionally vague and unenforceable as applied to Plaintiff's claims against First Student, Inc. and First Transit Inc. (JA, Vol. X, p. 2298.)

The trial court based its decision on the fact that Ms. Connor produced no evidence "[t]he background reports that First Student, Inc. procured and/or caused to be prepared on Plaintiff [contained] information obtained through personal interviews." (*Id.* at p. 2298:24-27.) Accordingly, the trial court correctly found Appellant's subject background reports were simultaneously subject to both the CCRAA and the ICRAA. (*Id.*) Because the CCRAA and the ICRAA contain different procedural requirements before a consumer report can be requested and contain significantly different penalties for a proven violation of their provisions, the trial court correctly found their simultaneous coverage caused the ICRAA to be unconstitutionally vague and unenforceable as applied to this action as a matter of law under *Ortiz*, 157 Cal.App.4th at 604 and *Trujillo*, 157 Cal.App.4th at 628.

**L. Mr. Connor's Appeal Of The Trial Court's Decision.**

Ms. Connor appealed the trial court's granting First's motion for summary judgment on May 7, 2014, to California's Second Appellate District.

**M. The Second Appellate District Grant's Ms. Connor's Appeal Reversing The Trial Court's Grant Of First's Motion For Summary Judgment Because It Believed The 1998 Amendment To The ICRAA Did Not Rendered It Unconstitutionally Vague.**

On August 12, 2015, the Second District issued its decision on Ms. Connor's appeal holding that, contrary to the Fourth Appellate District in *Ortiz* and *Trujillo*, the ICRAA was not unconstitutionally vague and did not unconstitutionally overlap with the CCRAA. The *Connor* Court reached this conclusion because, unlike the *Ortiz* and *Trujillo* Courts that found the ICRAA and the CCRAA were meant to be separate and distinct statutes that applied to different types of consumer reports and therefore an individual or entity needed to only comply with the one governing the consumer report they procured or caused to be prepared, the *Connor* Court held an individual or entity was not prevented from complying with both statutes at the same time. In other words, unlike the *Ortiz* and *Trujillo* Courts that sought to continue to give effect to the Legislature's express differentiation between the two statutes, the Second District essentially held the ICRAA's 1998 amendment caused it to swallow the CCRAA in all but certain limited specifically enumerated situations. Accordingly, in the Second District's view, a defendant can be held liable for violating the ICRAA even though it engaged in perfectly legal conduct that was specifically authorized by the CCRAA.

**N. Review Is Necessary To Secure Uniformity Of Decisions Across California's Appellate Courts And To Settle An Important And Reoccurring Question Of Law.**

As stated above, review is proper in this action to resolve the conflict between California's Second and Fourth Appellate Districts as well as to resolve the conflict between the Second Appellate District and the federal district court's that have considered the constitutionality of the post-1998 ICRAA in the context of consumer reports procured or caused to be prepared for employment purposes.

This issue is of significant importance to California's employers as it will resolve the uncertainty as to whether the CCRAA or the ICRAA applies to consumer reports that are procured or caused to be prepared for employment purposes – such as background reports that are conducted as a condition of an employee's employment.

## VI. ARGUMENT

### A. **The Supreme Court Should Grant Review To Provide Uniformity Between California's Appellate Courts Regarding Whether The ICRAA's 1998 Amendments Caused It To Be Unconstitutionally Vague And Unenforceable As Applied To Consumer Reports Obtained For Employment Purposes.**

It is well-established that a “a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that [persons] of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application, violates the first essential of due process of law.” *Roberts*, 468 U.S. At 629; *Connally v. General Const. Co.* (1926) 269 U.S. 385, 391. A vague statute cannot be upheld because “we insist that laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly.” *Cranston v. City of Richmond* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 755, 763. “A statute should be sufficiently certain so that a person may know what is prohibited thereby and what may be done without violating its provisions . . . .” *Lockheed Aircraft Corp. v. Superior Court* (1946) 28 Cal.2d 481, 484. The “void-for-vagueness doctrine” represents “the underlying concern [that a statute comply with] the core due process requirement of adequate notice.” *People ex rel. Gallo v. Acuna* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 1090, 1115.

#### 1. **California's Fourth Appellate District Has Held The Post-1998 ICRAA Is Unconstitutionally Vague And Unenforceable As A Matter Of Law.**

In *Ortiz and Trujillo*, California's Fourth Appellate District held the ICRAA's 1998 amendment, which removed the limitation it only applied to

consumer reports containing information bearing on an individual's "character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living . . . obtained through personal interviews," caused it to be unconstitutionally vague, at least as to consumer reports that could simultaneously be subject to the separate and distinct statute, the CCRAA. Federal district courts that have considered the constitutionality of the overlap between the CCRAA and the ICRAA have applied *Ortiz* and *Trujillo* to likewise find the post 1998 ICRAA is unconstitutionally vague for the same reasons. See *Roe*, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88936,\*14-18; *Moran v. The Screening Pros.* (C.D. Cal. 2012) 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158598,\*15-22. Indeed, the Second Appellate District in *Connor* is the first court to reject the *Ortiz* and *Trujillo* Court's reasoning and holding.

The *Ortiz*, *Trujillo* and the federal courts that have considered the constitutionality of the post 1998 ICRAA as to consumer reports that are arguably covered by both the CCRAA and the ICRAA reached the conclusion that the ICRAA was unconstitutionally vague based on the fact that California's Legislature intended the CCRAA and the ICRAA to operate as separate and distinct statutes. Indeed, from their inception, these two statutes were intended to govern different specific types of consumer reports.

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