IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

---

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

From a Decision by the Second Appellate District, Division Four

---

EILEEN CONNOR,	)	Supreme Court Case No. S229428
	)	
Plaintiff and Appellant,	)	Appeal No. B256075
	)	
v.	)	Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No.
	)	JCCP 4624
FIRST STUDENT, INC., et al.,	)	(In re First Student, Inc. Cases)
	)	
Defendants and Respondents.	)	Trial Judge: The Hon. John S. Wiley
	)	

---

\*HUNTER PYLE, SBN 191125  
TANYA TAMBLING, SBN 262979  
SUNDEEN SALINAS & PYLE  
428 13th Street, 8th Floor  
Oakland, CA 94612  
Telephone: (510) 663-9240  
Facsimile: (510) 663-9241  
hpyle@ssrplaw.com, ttambling@ssrplaw.com

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. This Court’s Review Is Not Necessary to Secure Uniformity of Decision or to Settle an Important Question of Law.**
- A. This Court’s Review Is Not Necessary Because the Court of Appeal Followed Uniformly Accepted Principles of Statutory Interpretation.**

Despite the Second District’s disagreement with *Ortiz*, this Court’s review is not “necessary” within the meaning of Rule 8.500.

The Court of Appeal relied on well-established principles of statutory interpretation to conclude that “[t]he fact that the two acts [ICRAA and CCRAA] overlap in their coverage of some consumer reports does not render the acts unconstitutionally vague to the extent of that overlap.” (Op. at p.13.) These basic principles, repeatedly affirmed by United States and California Supreme Courts, begin with the observation that “[r]edundancies across statutes are not unusual events in drafting.” (Op. at p.14, citing *Connecticut Nat. Bank v. Germain* (1992) 503 U.S. 249, 253-254.) Accordingly, “so long as there is no ‘positive repugnancy’ between [ ] two laws . . . a court must give effect to both.” (*Id.*; see also, e.g., *Pacific Palisades Bowl Mobile Estates, LLC v. City of Los Angeles* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 783, 805 (explaining that a court must give effect to two overlapping statutes unless the statutes are “irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation”).)

First cannot and does not cite any authority contrary to the basic rule of statutory interpretation governing the interpretation of overlapping statutes. As *Ortiz* did not consider or apply this rule, the Court of Appeal’s decision in this case is best viewed as a correction of an earlier oversight.

Moreover, CCRAA and ICRAA are far from repugnant to each other. To the contrary, they do not even conflict. As the Court of Appeal held, after the Legislature amended ICRAA in 1998, consumer reports “are governed by the ICRAA under its clear and unambiguous language,” as well as by CCRAA. (Op. at p.13.) “[T]here is no ‘positive repugnancy’ between the CCRAA and the ICRAA,” because persons subject to the acts “can comply with each act without violating the other.” (Op. at p.14.) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal held correctly that it “can—and must—give effect to both acts.” (Op. at p.15.)

**B. This Court’s Review Is Not Necessary Because There Is No Significant Split in Authority.**

Furthermore, First exaggerates the extent of the precedent that followed *Ortiz*. There are only three such cases, including one companion case and two unpublished federal trial court decisions. The companion case is *Trujillo v. First American Registry* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 628. The same panel that decided *Ortiz* decided *Trujillo* on the very same day. Unsurprisingly, *Trujillo* simply followed *Ortiz*.

As for the two federal trial court decisions, *Roe v. LexisNexis Solutions, Inc.*, Civ. No. 12-6284, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88936 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 19, 2013), has settled. The other, *Moran v. The Screening Pros*, Civ. No. 12-0508, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158598 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 28, 2012), is on appeal to the Ninth Circuit, where briefing and argument are complete. In none of these cases did the courts address the principles of statutory interpretation that the Court of Appeal followed here.

To the extent that First’s argument that ICRAA is unconstitutionally vague depends on its claim that CCRAA “specifically authorized” its conduct in running a background check, there is no authority supporting its

position. *Ortiz* did not so hold. And the Court of Appeal correctly observed that “CCRAA does not ‘specifically authorize’ anything.” (Op. at p.15.)

**C. This Court’s Review Is Not Necessary Because There Is No Confusion as to the Requirements for Running Background Checks in California.**

Finally, the record does not support the assertion that there is practical confusion as to California law governing background checks. Although the Consumer Data Industry Association and First contend otherwise, they identify no evidence of any such confusion other than their bald assertions. Furthermore, numerous published practice guides demonstrate that there is no such confusion.

Indeed, as Ms. Connor pointed out in her briefing on appeal, First has acknowledged that, by its plain language, ICRAA applies to this case. (See Joint Appendix filed in Court of Appeal, Vol. 5 p.111:6-7, Joint Appendix Vol. 6 p.332:19-22.) First could not contend otherwise, because the plain text of ICRAA since its amendment in 1998 shows that it applies. Indeed, as the Court of Appeal observed, the form that First sent Ms. Connor regarding her background check “contained [ ] a section entitled ‘Notice to California Applicants,’ which set forth the applicant’s rights under the ICRAA, and specifically referred to section 1786.22 of the act.” (Op. at p.4 fn.3.) It is therefore clear that First knew that ICRAA applied to Ms. Connor’s background check before it ordered that check.

More generally, businesses like First have been operating under restrictions imposed by the post-1998 ICRAA and CCRAA for over fifteen years, and there is no evidence of confusion. For example, published practice guides explain that employers must comply with both ICRAA and CCRAA where appropriate. See, e.g., Charles H. Kennedy (2008) *Business*

*Privacy Law Handbook*, at p.110 (“disclosure and other requirements in FCRA [the Fair Credit Reporting Act], ICRAA, and CCRAA are highly duplicative, but California employers must be careful to comply with all of them”); Douglas J. Farmer (2013) *California Employment Guide: The Complete Survival Guide for Doing Business in California*, at §§ 14.1-14.11 (providing detailed explanation of each of the reporting laws and identifying which law(s) must be complied with in various circumstances); *Background Checks in Employment* (Presentation) (emphasizing that companies should employ “a separate disclosure/consent form that contains all required disclosures under ICRAA, CCRAA, and FCRA” because “California employers must comply with ALL three”).<sup>3</sup> Clearly, employers and agencies need not “struggle to understand their rights and obligations under California law.” Cf. Letter from Simon J. Frankel, Covington & Burling LLP, on behalf of the Consumer Data Industry Association (Sept. 21, 2015).

## **II. The Procedural Posture of This Case Poses Potential Complications for Review.**

As shown above, this Court should deny review of the Court of Appeal’s decision because there is no uncertainty that needs to be resolved. However, even if the Court were inclined to grant review on the issues presented, it should not do so at this time. Mr. Gonzalez’s consolidated appeal against Respondent HireRight is still pending, and how it will be resolved is uncertain and potentially complicated.

As described above, when HireRight filed for bankruptcy, Mr. Gonzalez’s consolidated appeal as to the HireRight entities was stayed.

---

<sup>3</sup> Available at [http://www.klgates.com/files/upload/Presentation\\_Background\\_Checks.pdf](http://www.klgates.com/files/upload/Presentation_Background_Checks.pdf) (last visited October 12, 2015).

(Op. at pp.4-5, fn.4) The Court of Appeal opinion therefore “address[ed] only First’s judgment against Connor.” (*Ibid.*) On October 5, 2015, however, the Court of Appeal ordered the stay of Mr. Gonzalez’s appeal lifted pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362. The Court also issued an order to show cause within 20 days why the appeal should not be dismissed as moot, following the approval of a Plan of Reorganization by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware.

What happens next in the Court of Appeal and in the bankruptcy court will depend on the actions of those courts, in response to the parties’ briefing that has yet to be submitted. Mr. Gonzalez will be pursuing his rights in this case in either or both courts, as his claims remain to be adjudicated under the bankruptcy plan.

Ms. Connor therefore respectfully submits that if the Court does not deny review entirely, it would be appropriate for this Court to wait to decide whether or not to grant review until such time as the status of Mr. Gonzalez’s consolidated appeal is clarified.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For all the reasons stated above, Plaintiff-Appellant Connor respectfully requests that this Court deny First’s petition for review.